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2018 Rhode Island Request for Proposals for Long-Term Contracts for Renewable Energy  
 

Questions and Answers - Batch #4 
 

October 18, 2018 
 

1) My question is the following: 
 
Would you please confirm if a separate nonrefundable deposit is required for each of the 
following scenarios for the same project: 
 
15 year PPA 
20 Year PPA 
Collocated storage option 
 
Answer:  
 
The fee for an additional pricing offer only applies for variations in pricing and/or alternate 
contract term lengths for the same project. For all other cases a new bid fee is required. As 
such, an additional $25,000 fee would be required for each of the 15 year and 20 year 
contract term lengths. Proposing a collocated storage option would require a new bid fee. 
 
 

2) a. Please post the presentation from the Bidders Conference held on Wednesday, 
 September 26, 2018. 
 
b. Please clarify if bidders are required to submit pricing scenarios for each of the pricing 
 scenarios contemplated in Section 2.2.4.2.1 Allowable Forms of Pricing: in the RFP or if 
 bidders may submit their preferred pricing scenario only.  
 
Answer:  
 
a. The presentation from the Bidder Conference was posted to the RFP website at 

https://ricleanenergyrfp.com/ on September 27, 2018. 
 

b. Bidders must submit at least one of the pricing options stated in Section 2.2.4.2.1 
Allowable Forms of Pricing of the RFP, but may submit additional options, if desired. 
 
 

3) a. Given that resources are eligible to participate in other RFPs that are pending or will be 
 issued during this RFP, can an additional pricing offer be contingent on an award under 
 another RFP?  If so, would such a pricing offer require an additional $25,000 bid fee? 
 

https://ricleanenergyrfp.com/
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b.  Section 5.3 of the LTCS Regulations (RFP Appendix C-2) requires that all Long-Term 
 Contracts contain provisions to allow the Electric Distribution Company to terminate the 
 contract after 3 years if material progress is not being made on the project.  PPA Section 
 3.1 will include Critical Milestones that may extend beyond that 3 year period and 
 provides for extensions of those Critical Milestones (including potentially four six month 
 periods under Section 3.1(c)).  When filing for approval of any PPA resulting from this 
 RFP, will National Grid seek a waiver or other appropriate relief from applicable 
 regulations to preserve the integrity of the PPA structure regarding Critical Milestones? 
 
c.    Please confirm that the reference to "PPA capacity" in RFP Section 2.2.2.3 relates to the 
 authorization of National Grid to procure capacity, energy and RECs under applicable 
 law for the Long-Term Contracting Standard, rather than the contractual terms and 
 conditions of a PPA resulting from this RFP. 
 
d. When will National Grid determine whether to require pricing at the Rhode Island zone 
 per RFP Section 2.2.4.2.2? 
 
e. Regarding the bid fee calculated under Section 2.2.4.4 of the RFP and assuming a 100 
 MW nameplate project, please confirm: 
 

(i)         the bid fee would be $150,000 if the bidder proposes three pricing options but all 

other elements of the project remain the same (e.g., project size, technology, 

delivery point, in-service date, length of PPA term, etc.); 

(ii)        another $75,000 bid fee would be due if the bidder proposed the exact same 

project as in clause (i), including the three pricing alternatives, but the length of 

the proposed PPA term differs from that proposed in clause (i); and 

(iii)        increasing the size of the project from 100 MW, would require the payment of a 

$100,000 minimum bid fee (assuming a nameplate size 100 MWs or greater), 

plus $25,000 for each pricing option and/or PPA term variation. 

f. If a bidder proposes a 100 MW project with a 15 year contract term (base bid) and the 
 bidder is also proposing a 150 MW project with a contract term greater 15 years 
 (alternative bid), then does the bidder need to additionally submit a bid for 150 MWs 
 with a contract term of 15 years? 
 
g. Are there any parameters on a bidder's ability to reconcile the requirement of the 
 contract being unit specific (RFP Section 2.2.2.3), with the ability to propose a pro rata 
 portion of a larger project (RFP Section 2.2.2.5).  Would metering be an acceptable way 
 to accomplish the sale of 50% of the energy and RECs produced by a 100 MW project? 
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h. Please clarify the basis in Section 6.1 of Appendix B for requiring wind and solar projects 
 that provide hourly data to supply an hourly profile specific to 2012 weather 
 patterns.  Is it acceptable to provide a projection of ‘weather normalized’ production 
 based on more recent information?  If not, please provide more specificity on how a 
 bidder should provide an hourly profile specific to 2012 weather patterns. 
 
i.  Section 6.1 of Appendix B states, “If your bid includes a delivery forecast which is 
 substantially different than NREL data would suggest, please reconcile the differences.”. 
 In order to allow bidders to accurately calculate this could you please provide a link to 
 the specific NREL data being referenced in Section 6.1? 
 
j. At the Bidder Conference a question was asked if more insight could be given 
 surrounding the language in the RFP from Section 2.3.1 that states, “National Grid plans 
 to use a price forecast that will incorporate the effects of future federal or state 
 regulation of carbon dioxide emissions on relevant energy prices.”  The response from 
 the Bidder Conference suggested that only a RGGI forecast will be used for carbon.  Will 
 only an estimate of RGGI costs be used or will some other federal carbon price forecast 
 be incorporated in addition to RGGI costs?  If an estimate for a federal carbon program 
 will be utilized, what will be the basis for this cost? 
 
Answer:  
 
a. Related to bid fees, additional pricing offers cannot be contingent on an award under 

another RFP. That is to say, no pricing offer can be contingent on an award under 
another RFP, nor will an award another RFP alter bid fees for additional pricing offers.  
 

b. At this time, National Grid does not plan to seek a waiver or relief from Section 5.3 of 
the Public Utilities Commission’s (“PUC”) Long Term Contracting Standard regulations, 
which allows the Company or the PUC to terminate, without penalty, a long-term 
contract after 3 years if material progress on the project is not being made.  
 

c. The reference to "PPA capacity" in RFP Section 2.2.2.3 refers to the contractual 
requirements of a potential PPA resulting from this RFP. 
 

d. Such a determination will be made during the Stage Two Price and Non-Price Analysis 
portion of the bid evaluation and selection process. 
 

e. The fee for an additional pricing offer only applies for variations in pricing and/or 
alternate contract term lengths for the same project. For all other cases a new bid fee is 
required. As such:  

 
(i) Confirmed. 

 
(ii) Confirmed. 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

 
(iii) If there are changes to any physical aspect of a project, including but not limited 

to project size, technology type(s), production/delivery profile, in-service date, 
or delivery location, then another bid fee will be required. So, a bid fee of 
$100,000 would be required for the 100 MW nameplate capacity project, plus an 
additional $100,000 for the higher nameplate capacity project, plus an additional 
$25,000 for each pricing offer. 

 
f. In such an instance, a bidder must submit a pricing schedule for 10 to 15 years for the 

150 MW project. Bidders seeking contract terms longer than 15 years must demonstrate 
that the longer contract term is a contract cost savings, and must submit pricing 
schedules for: (1) a contract of 10 to 15 years; and (2) for the longer contract term and 
the required bid fee. 
 

g. Subject to review of the exact proposed changes to the Draft Contract submitted by a 
bidder, metering may be an acceptable means of structuring such a sale. 
 

h. The evaluation team uses a modeling system whose annual hourly profiles are 
benchmarked against 2012 datasets; specifically, the profiles for variable generation 
such as PV and wind are configured against 2012 weather patterns. By providing 2012 
hourly generation data, the bidder is (a) maintaining consistency with the modeling 
system, as well as other bids, thereby ensuring fairness in evaluation, and (b) providing 
granular data that allows the team to model the bid unit with fewer differences. In 
addition to 2012 hourly shapes, a bidder may provide a 12x24 profile that accurately 
represents the unit’s capacity factor, with the latitude and longitude of the Eligible 
Facility.  The latitude and longitude of the Eligible Facility will allow the evaluation team 
to determine an estimated generation profile for the project, based on 2012 weather 
patterns which will reflect the bidder provided capacity factor. 
 
Typically, historic hourly weather data for 2012 may be obtained for the specific project 
location through a variety of available resources e.g. NREL, NOAA, NCDC.  The weather 
data can then be used to determine the hourly unit performance for 2012 using OEM 
performance curves, proprietary simulation models or various other numerical 
methods. 
 

i. The NREL data source is the NREL wind toolkit (https://www.nrel.gov/grid/wind-
toolkit.html) and the solar data sets (https://www.nrel.gov/grid/solar-integration-
data.html).  NREL may be contacted to obtain the full set of hourly data points. 
 

j. While National Grid was considering various options at the time the RFP was issued, 
after further planning of its evaluation protocol, RGGI pricing for carbon will be the only 
carbon cost incorporated in relevant forecasted energy pricing.     
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4) a. Under section 2.2.2.3 it is explained that eligible bids must be below the forecasted 
 market price of energy and RECs over the term of the proposed contract. What 
 indices(s) will bids be compared to?  
 Note: We contacted Tabors Caramanis and Associates as well as SEA. SEA indicated they 
 have the REC index, but neither seems to have the energy index and referred us back to 
 NationalGrid. Can you please provide the index, the model and/or assumptions that will 
 be used to evaluate the bids? 
 
b. Please clarify that the inclusion of storage in a proposal will not disqualify a bid. 
 
c. Please clarify that the inclusion of co-located behind- the- meter/generation storage) 
 will not disqualify a bid. 
 
Answer:  
 
a.  National Grid plans to use the ENELYTIX model employed by the consulting firm of 
 Tabors Caramanis and Rudkevich. The model will forecast future energy and REC prices 
 and will compare them to the bid prices received to determine if the bids are below the 
 forecasted market price of energy and RECs. The model does not use published 
 forecasts for energy and REC prices. 
 
b. The inclusion of storage in a proposal will not automatically disqualify a bid but the 

 bidder must explain how the output from the storage facility is a qualified resource. 

c. Behind-the-meter projects are not eligible for this RFP, including co-located, behind-the-

 meter generation and storage 

 
5) After reviewing the RFP materials for Long-Term Contracts for Renewable Energy, we just 

have a couple questions related to the Bid Fees that we would like to clarify.  Please see 
below for our questions: 
 
a. In Section 2.2.4.4 of the RFP (Non-Refundable Bid Fees), it states that “each additional 

pricing offer for the same project, including those with alternate contract lengths, will 
cost an additional fixed fee of $25,000.”  Section 2.2.4.2.1 sets forth the allowable forms 
of pricing, with options (a) through (c).  Does the additional $25,000 fixed fee apply if a 
bidder would like to submit pricing offers in more than one of (a) through (c), such as a 
fixed price and then a price with an annual escalator, but everything else is the same 
about the project (i.e. it is the same project size, location, technology, contract length, 
etc.)? 
 

b. What would be the case if a bidder wanted to propose a standalone project option (i.e. 
no storage component) as well as a project option with storage, but the other details of 
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the project remain the same?  Would this be considered two pricing offers and require 
the additional $25,000 fee? 
 

From playing with the CPPD form, it appears that the situations described above would 
require additional $25,000 bid fees, but we wanted to confirm. 
 
Answer:  
 
a.  Correct, the additional fixed fee of $25,000 will apply to the additional pricing offer.  
 This will be in addition to the initial minimum bid fee.  The initial minimum bid fee will 
 be $25,000 for a project with a minimum nameplate capacity of 20 MW, and bid fees 
 will increase by $1,000 for each MW above 20 MW to a maximum bid fee of $100,000. 
 
b. The $25,000 fee for an additional pricing offer only applies for variations in pricing 
 and/or alternate contract term lengths for the same project. For all other cases a new 
 bid fee is required. As such, proposing a collocated storage option would require a new 
 bid fee. Please see also the response to 5(a), above. 
 
 

6) a. Contract form  

Please confirm that all resources outside of the ISO-NE control area should use the 
“Import” form of PPA. 

b. Minimum Required Deliveries (Definition, 4.3)  

Can you confirm that the Minimum Required Deliveries Definition and usage in Section 
4.3 do not imply a production guarantee (and any redundancy therefore with the 
Biennial Delivery Deficiency), but rather solely apply to the relationship and accuracy 
between metered vs. scheduled energy? 

c. Reliability Curtailment (Definition, 4.4)  

Can you provide further detail and examples of what is meant by part (ii) of the 
definition (“any other order or directive…”)? 

d. Delay Damages (3.2)  

In the event of termination by Buyer for Seller failure to meet Guaranteed COD, are 
Delay Damages owed under 3.2(a) netted against the Seller Termination Payment in 
9.3(b), or in addition to? 

e. Capacity Deficiency (Definition, 3.3(b))  

If there is a Capacity Deficiency at COD, can the Seller declare COD on the completed 
portion and then continue to build out the remainder of the project and pay Delay 
Damages, or is a permanent reduction the only option? 

f. Forecasts (3.5(f))  
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What is the purpose of the requested Forecasts and are there any associated Damages 
or Breach provisions for the Seller? 

g. Qualification of RECs for other states (4.7(c))  

Noting that the Breach clause in 9.2(j) only applies to 4.7(b) – maintaining Renewable 
Energy Standard eligibility – can you clarify Seller obligations to qualify for other states 
as outlined in 4.7(c) and what, if any, default and breach provisions apply here? 

h. Credit replenishment (Article 6)  

(i) Can you detail what, if any, obligations Seller has for replenishment of 
Development Period Security and/or Operating Period Security in the event of a 
draw by Buyer and as it relates to events of Default by Seller in 9.2(b), Failure to 
Maintain Credit Support (and the statement therein about failure to replenish)? 

(ii) In 6.3, the PPA states that “Buyer may request… Credit Support having a Value of 
at least the Collateral Requirement”. Can you clarify what is meant by this, and 
specifically how and why Buyer might request credit support in excess of the 
Collateral Requirement if that is implied in the meaning? 

i. Termination Payment (9.3b)  

What is meant by the statement “probability of exceedance basis of 50%”? 

j. Adjusted Price (Exhibit D, 4.7(b)(ii)), 5.1)  

(i) What are the specific limitations and thresholds for the Adjusted Price vs. the 
Product Price? 

(ii) Is there meant to be a relationship between the Adjusted Price for Scheduled 
Energy and the Scheduled Energy component of the Product Price? 

(iii) Put differently, can Seller propose an Adjusted Price for Scheduled Energy as 
allowed under 4.6(b)(ii) (Change in law impacting REC qualification) of its 
choosing, or must it be computed from the implied REC value as a component of 
the (bundled) Product Price? 

k. Section 2.2.3.3 of the RI Clean Energy RFP requires bidder to “demonstrate that it has 
control, or an irrevocable option (conditioned only upon the payment of a reasonable 
amount) to acquire control, over the site […] and generator lead to the Delivery Point 
under the PPA”.  

Projects often use municipal right of ways for part of the collector system and those 
municipal right of ways are often secured later in the development process (i.e. post 
PPA award). Can National Grid confirm that municipal right of ways control is not 
necessary for the bid submission?   

l. Section 2.2.3.3(ii) of the RI Clean Energy RFP requires bidders to provide a “certification 
of the bidder’s rights to use the generation unit site and/or generator lead route for the 
entire proposed term of the PPA”. Can National Grid clarify which form should this 
certification take?  
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m. The CPPD form allows for submission of a Part V sheet with Storage, although the RI 
Clean Energy RFP does not mention storage. Can National Grid clarify if bidders are 
expected to submit a price alternate with storage, in addition to a base case price 
without storage? In addition, can National Grid clarify if addition of a price alternate for 
storage will constitute an Additional Pricing Offer (+$25,000) to the Bid Fee?  

n. Section 2.2.2.4 of the RI Clean Energy RFP allows bidders to submit pricing for a contract 
term over 15 years (pending PUC approval and adequate justification). The CPPD form 
only allows for a term of 20 years as is. Should we consider 20 years as the maximum 
contract term or will National Grid publish an updated CPPD Form with more lines, as 
the document is protected against such edits?   

o. Would National Grid consider pre-payment of RECs and/or Energy in an alternative 
proposal? 

p. Does National Grid have a specific methodology requested for resource assessment: i.e. 
P50 or P99? 

q. Can National Grid clarify the intent in requesting bidders to submit hourly production 
data representative of the year 2012 in the CPPD form Part V? 

r. Are there a preferred and a maximum Commercial Operation Date and Commencement 
of Construction Date? 

 

Answer:  

a.  Confirmed.  The statement is correct. 
 
b. The Minimum Required Deliveries Definition refers to the relationship and between 
 Metered Output at the generating unit and Scheduled Energy delivered to the Delivery 
 Point within the ISO-NE Control Area, which is a key consideration in an import 
 transaction.  Failure to Deliver the Minimum Required Deliveries in any Contract Year 
 obligates Seller to pay Cover Damages.  This is distinct from the Biennial Delivery 
 Requirement in Section 4.9.  Failure to meet Biennial Delivery Requirement 
 obligates Seller to pay Delivery Deficiency Damages.   
 
c. The Reliability Curtailment Definition has been broadly fashioned to include any 

curtailment that might be directed by ISO-NE, another ISO, or an Interconnecting Utility 
or Transmission Provider in order to capture such circumstances under which a 
curtailment might be directed.  Such circumstances would most likely arise in the event 
of outages or limitations of key transmission system components or certain generating 
units. 

 
d. If Buyer terminates the PPA prior to Commercial Operation Date, then, pursuant to 

Section 9.3(b)(i), the Termination Payment is equal to (i) all Delay Damages due and 
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owing by Seller through the date of such termination, plus (ii) the full amount of the 
Development Period Security required to be provided to Buyer by Seller.  

 
e. The Draft PPA requirements for Commercial Operation and Delay Damages contemplate 

that a project will be completed at the time of Commercial Operation, and set a 
minimum requirement of 90 percent of nameplate capacity or no more than a ten MW 
deficiency on the completed project.  These provisions are not structured to allow for 
“partial” Commercial Operation to be achieved on an uncompleted project, with delay 
damages paid until full completion. 

 
f. The forecasts are intended to provide the Buyer with an indication of expected energy 

production, and to explicitly identify planned outages or deratings, but with full 
recognition of the production variability associated with renewable resources.  Failure 
to provide the forecasts would, after notice and failure to cure, constitute an event of 
default under Section 9.1(c). 

 
g. Failure to satisfy the obligations in Section 4.7 (c) would, after notice and failure to cure, 

constitute an event of default under 9.1(c). 
 
h. (i)  The Seller has an obligation to maintain Development Period and/or Operating   

      Period Security, and an obligation to replenish in the event of a draw down by Buyer.    
      The failure to maintain or replenish security constitutes an event of default under  
      Section 9.2(b). 
 
(ii)  While Credit Support must be at least the Collateral Requirement, defined as the  
      amount of Development Period Security or Operating Period Security required under  
      the Agreement at the applicable time, there is no requirement that it exceed this   
      requirement.   
 

i. Because energy production of renewable energy resources can be variable, this 
benchmark is set here for purposes of calculating the Termination Payment when the 
PPA is terminated on or after the Commercial Operation Date pursuant to Section 
9.3(b)(iii) or (iv).  This is the production level in the P50 case, i.e., for which there is a 
50% probability of exceedance. 

 
j. The Bidder must propose separate energy and REC prices as separate components of a 

bundled price.  The Adjusted Price must equal the price to be paid when the Buyer is 
purchasing only Energy, without the REC price component, as provided in 
Section 4.7(b)(ii).  The Bidder cannot propose an Adjusted Price that is independent of 
the REC and Energy components, or that assigns no value to one of the two components 
due to a potential change in law. Pricing for energy and RECs must align with the relative 
market value of those products. 
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k. National Grid maintains its site control requirements as specified in Section 2.2.3.3 of 
the RFP; a bidder must meet those requirements. 
 

l. Such certification may take the form of easements or leases. Please refer to Section 8 
 of Appendix B to the RFP. 
 
m. The CPPD form is structured to accept either a proposal for a generation resource or a 
 generation resource paired and co-located with energy storage, and should not be used 
 to submit both together.  If a bidder is submitting a proposal for a generation resource 
 only they should complete Part V, and for a generation resource paired and co-located 
 with storage they should complete Part V (with Storage).  Whether to submit proposals 
 for both a generation resource and a generation resource paired and co-located with 
 storage is a decision for the bidder. 

 
If a bidder is proposing a standalone project option (i.e. no storage component) as well 
as a project option paired and co-located with storage, separate CPPD forms must be 
submitted for each.   For each of these project submittals the initial minimum bid fee 
will be $25,000 for a project with a minimum nameplate capacity of 20 MW, and bid 
fees will increase by $1,000 for each MW above 20 MW to a maximum bid fee of 
$100,000. 
 
The flat $25,000 fee for an additional pricing offer would only apply for variations in 
pricing and/or alternate contract term lengths for the same project. 

 
n. Bidders proposing a term of greater than 20 years should explain the pricing structure 
 for the additional years in the designated fields of Part VI of the CPPD Form.  
 
o. National Grid will not consider pre-payment of RECs and/or Energy in an alternative 
 proposal. 
 
p. As noted in Section 6.1 of Appendix B, bidders are requested to provide resource data 
 at both the P50 and P90 levels. 
 
q.  Please refer to the response to question number 3)h. 
 
r. There are no specific Commercial Operation Dates or Commencement of Construction 
 Dates. Of note, Section 3.3 of the Regulations specifically defines the term “credible 
 operation date” as more likely than not that the project will come on line within 90 days 
 of the date that is projected within the proposal. Bidders are encouraged to review the 
 additional guidance offered in Section 2.2.3.2 Reasonable Project Schedule of the RFP. 


